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Introduction

THE CALL FROM THE PRESIDENT

ON OCTOBER 18, 1994, in the small town of Ledyard, Connecticut, the chief of the richest and most powerful Native American tribe in the United States strode purposefully into the white construction trailer that served as his temporary office and waited while an operator connected him to the White House. At 10:00 A.M., the call went through and an official-sounding voice told Mashantucket Pequot tribal chairman Richard “Skip” Hayward to “stand by, for the president.” A moment of American history as significant as this, Hayward figured, was certainly worth waiting for.

At 10:18 A.M., the familiar sound of Bill Clinton‘s voice came over the line. Their conversation lasted just about thirteen minutes. Clinton began by thanking Hayward for his past generosity, for the chief had recently contributed nearly $500,000 to the Democratic Party to support candidates in the 1994 congressional elections. Hayward told the president how much he had supported his and his wife Hillary‘s health-care initiatives, and volunteered a little bit of information about the federally designed tribal health-insurance plan. He expressed his hope that the president would support the tribe‘s request to the Department of the Interior and the Bureau of Indian Affairs for help in building a health clinic for members of his fast-growing Pequot tribe. “We‘re going to do everything we can to help you,” Clinton promised, emphasizing the word “you,” in his distinctive Arkansas accent. Hayward also expressed his concern that the president be sensitive about issues of Indian sovereignty and not support any efforts to tax the giant gambling casino that his tribe had recently begun operating. The conversation ended amiably with Clinton‘s assurances on that score, and the president took the next in his line of calls. Hayward leaned back in exultation.

It was a singular moment for Hayward and his tribe, a moment ripe with historical significance. Direct contacts between American presidents and Indian leaders had been rare and controversial going back to the momentous first visit of Oglala Sioux chief Red Cloud and Brul‘ chief Spotted Tail to Washington during the administration of Ulysses S. Grant on June 6, 1870. Seven years later, Red Cloud came to Washington again, this time to negotiate with President Rutherford B. Hayes over the establishment of the Pine Ridge and Rosebud Reservations in South Dakota.

In the hundred years since their brutal forced relocation to reservations, American Indians had come to live in abject poverty. Forced into a fenced existence that as historically free-roaming people they did not understand, they watched settlers take more and more of their ancestral lands while they signed treaties they could not read and sold thousands of acres of property for bottles of whiskey that they could not tolerate. Alcoholism, discrimination, and woefully inadequate education steadily stripped American Indians of their dignity, pride, and economic status. The land they were left with was no good for farming, mineral rights were taken away from them, and federal agencies that were supposed to be managing their accounts were stealing from them. The businesses they had tried to start over the years smoke shops, museum stores, basket-making companies had largely failed, and over time they had become what the government considered impoverished wards of the state. No wonder that since that meeting in 1870, Indian leaders and American presidents had met on various occasions, almost always to discuss what aid the U.S. government could give the tribes.

But in 1994, for the first time in the history of Native American relations, it was not a tribe that was seeking federal help, but the president of the United States asking to be the beneficiary of Indian wealth. In the preceding year, Hayward had already sent, on behalf of his tribe, some $215,000 in legal but unregulated so-called soft money to help president Clinton‘s party repay the campaign debts incurred in the 1992 election. In a January 5, 1993, confidential memo from an official of the Democratic National Committee, Hayward was listed as one of the party‘s “top ten supporters,” with an accompanying memo that he should be the recipient of what would become one of those controversial overnight stays in the White House Lincoln Bedroom. The memo, written by Democratic national finance chairman Terry McAuliffe, listed Hayward third on a list of ten of the country‘s best-known industrialists. “If there are any opportunities to include some of our key supporters in some of the President‘s activities, such as golf games, morning jog, e.g., it would be greatly appreciated,” McAuliffe wrote. After the memo was written, Hayward and his Chippewa wife, Carol, a former Interior Department employee, became frequent guests at private breakfasts and dinners with the president and key administration officials. On the day before his call to Clinton, Hayward had signed a check for $50,000 to the Democratic National Committee. A short time after the call, on November 4 and November 21, he wrote two more checks for the same amount and over the next year contributed another $100,000. Hayward no doubt wrote these checks with the hope that the Clinton administration would respond favorably to his tribe‘s request to annex 165 acres of rural farmland that it had bought adjacent to its reservation in Ledyard. The property included a lake and an old Boy Scout camp that the tribe hoped to turn into a golf course, spa, and boating area. And in late 1994, Interior Secretary Bruce Babbitt approved the annexation despite vocal opposition from three neighboring towns concerned about crass development and worried that adding the land to the rest of the reservation which was held in a tax-free trust by the federal government‘would take the property off the local tax rolls.

After the 1994 phone conversation with the president, Hayward‘s then 175-member Mashantucket Pequot tribe would send nearly $800,000 in cash to the Democratic Party. They hedged their bets after Republican congressional victories of 1994 by giving $190,000 to the Republican Party, a decision that only infuriated House Speaker Newt Gingrich, who told colleagues that as long as the disparity between what they gave to the parties was so large, the Pequots would not have much clout with him.

In that crucial year of 1994, Hayward‘s largess would have immediate and tangible results. He would have a meeting with Democratic National Committee chairman David Wilhelm, one of Clinton‘s closest confidantes. A few months after the contributions, as President Clinton‘s reelection effort neared, Chief Hayward met with Clinton strategist Harold Ickes, then the White House deputy chief of staff. “There is a lot of money in Indian Country,” a White House lawyer wrote in a note about the meeting. This was not a message lost on the president.

In the months before his first election, Clinton had been extremely skeptical about the beneficial effects of allowing Indian tribes to own and operate gambling casinos. As the leader of the National Governor‘s Association, the Arkansas governor had led his organization‘s opposition to expansion of Indian gambling. His views were reflected in a speech he made at a town meeting in San Diego in May of 1992. Candidate Clinton expressed disdain for Native American casinos, saying that while “reservations have been kept dependent too long, gambling is a lousy basis for an economy.” But after consultation with political advisers and fund-raisers, Clinton began to see the error of his position. Seven months after his election, on August 4, 1993, Clinton gave a rare interview to a small paper called Indian Country Today, in which he extolled the benefits of Indian gaming as if the speech in San Diego had never happened. “Gaming is a positive economic development tool for Indian tribes,” Clinton asserted. This interview was one of the first signals of the president‘s increased effort to raise campaign funds from the tribes. And he had clearly been advised that the operative word was not “gambling” but “gaming.”

SO BEGAN A TREND, with the government catering to Native American needs for its own financial and political gain. And the Mashantucket Pequots, owners of the world‘s most profitable casino‘ just north of Hayward‘s office in the woods of southeastern Connecticut‘ were at the center of it all.

In one of the greatest about-faces in American history, this obscure Indian tribe, which in 1994 had been federally recognized for only ten years and numbered fewer than 200 people, had nothing if not plenty of cash.

The Pequots‘ Foxwoods High Stakes Bingo and Casino, one of the most successful cash-producing enterprises in the world, rose incongruously and unexpectedly from the forest that surrounded most of Ledyard, a village some 12 miles southeast of Norwich, Connecticut, and about an equal distance west of the Rhode Island border. Nestled a dozen miles off any main road, Foxwoods, which opened in 1992, had become an entertainment complex with four hotels, two giant casinos, a nest of restaurants and buffets, a state-of-the-art museum, and extensive shopping areas. Its distinctive white and teal color scheme rose high over the forest line and could be seen for miles, not a mirage in the desert but a visage in the woodlands. Virtually every day, some 25,000 visitors would elbow each other onto the grounds, anxious to pour dollars into the tribe‘s slot machines, and blackjack, craps, and poker tables. On some days, such as New England‘s Patriot‘s Day, the casino seemed to reach the point of implosion. Its parking lot, longer than three football fields, would be overwhelmed with vehicles from Boston, New York, and Canada. Spots were so prized that drivers would hover near the casino exits, then give people a ride to their car in exchange for their parking place. Noise and exhaust from buses were now the norm in what was once one of the most rural and quiet corners in America. Some twenty years earlier, hippies from New York had drifted to this area to find privacy and solace, making their homes in small towns like Ledyard, North Stonington, and Preston. Previously, there had been nothing to attract adventure-seeking tourists to stop here. Thousands of New Yorkers, Philadelphians, and Washingtonians making the journey to and from Cape Cod via I-95 in the summer could travel the same highway for decades and never find a reason to wander any farther off the road than the popular Mystic Aquarium on the coast. If one ventured north of the big fish tank, the roads became winding, leafy ways, mysterious and often unmarked. There were few gas stations and no chain or convenience stores. The thought of a McDonald‘s, Burger King, or Wal-Mart was ludicrous.

But by 1995, Route 2, which roughly paralleled a section of I-95 about 20 miles to the north, was a constant rumble of buses and cars crammed with boisterous out-of-towners heading to or from the casino looking to buy a quick snack with $100 bills, currency that most local merchants had rarely seen, much less made change for. Refrigerated supply trucks from New York and Boston joined the procession in the early morning as uniformed guards and tribal policemen waved vehicles through a maze of hotels, casinos, and restaurants. By late 1998, some 33.6 million rolls of the craps dice later, the casino had been teeming nonstop for seven full years. Gamblers were pouring an estimated $700 million a year into the tribe‘s slot machines, averaging $80,000 per hour. George Washington‘s shiny silver face was being swallowed up by the Indians‘ slot machines at a rate of 7.6 million coins per day. The slots had even pushed Hayward out of his office in the tribe‘s main building, which was why he had called the president from a trailer. Eventually, a new $30-million city hall and community center would replace the trailers.

But with the popularity of Foxwoods came problems‘ both for the casino and the town. The lines at the casino‘s understaffed buffet extended for hours during lunch and dinner. The casino had long ago sopped up all the available labor in the New England market, with dealers and pit bosses driving in each day from Providence, Boston, and even towns as far away as New Hampshire. There was such a shortage of workers that the Pequots had to create their own “academy” to train potential employees, since the local high schools did not offer vocational training in dealing craps and blackjack. Not that the tribe didn‘t try to encourage them. Every year, the Pequots would make a massive donation of used cards and dice to the public school system. “To help kids in math,” the school board insisted, accepting the gifts.

Services offered by casinos in Las Vegas or Atlantic City, like keno runners who took bets from customers for the ubiquitous bingolike numbers game, were often hard to find at Hayward‘s casino. All the pretty, long-legged local girls they could find to dress up in skimpy Indian costumes were already cocktail waitresses, dealers, or cashiers. In a region where unemployment had been unacceptably high for nearly two decades, there simply weren‘t enough bodies to fill the casino‘s voracious appetite for personnel. If you wanted to make a keno bet, it was do-it-yourself. Poker dealers were kept at their stations until their eyes were red and bleary and their fingers raw from scraping the edges of the cards. Roulette spinners whirled wheels until they were dizzy. The reservation didn‘t have to worry about violating labor laws, since it claimed exemption from most of them. The labor crisis was even worse outside the casino. Some shopkeepers, who had wondered hopefully what all those rumbling buses might mean for them, watched in horror as their hourly workers deserted in droves. Small business owners were left without cooks or counter workers, without salespersons or gas station attendants, without hairstylists or bookkeepers.

Suddenly, in what had once been one of the quietest patches of America, crimes were being committed that had been unheard of in the past. In their frenzied rush to the slot machines and blackjack tables, parents left their children and dogs locked in their cars, sometimes for hours. One New York City man left a five-year-old girl and a nine-year-old boy in his car for over two hours, with the motor running. A twenty-eight-year-old Massachusetts woman left four children ranging in age from two to seventeen alone for seventeen hours, while she lost the family grocery and rent money pulling slot handles. The police report indicated that she “occasionally” brought food and drink to the car for the children, who were locked inside from 9 A.M. on a Sunday until 2 A.M. Monday. Like many, their mother simply ignored the signs put up by the tribe in the parking lot stating that people leaving children in cars would be prosecuted. The towns‘ jails filled on account of drug and cocaine possession arrests, not merely of the tourists but also of nouveau riche tribe members suddenly swimming in cocaine and marijuana. In a three-month period in 1998, Connecticut State Police counted 340 crimes in tiny Ledyard, most of them drug or disorderly conduct crimes. Between 1990 and 1996, traffic counts on I-395 in Norwich increased from 37,000 to nearly 50,000 vehicles a day. On I-95, traffic doubled, swamping state police with at least two serious accidents to handle every day. On tree-lined Route 2, the busiest and closest road to the casino, many of the splendid oaks now showed fender-level gashes where cars had plowed into the forest.

By 1997, just five years after the opening of the casino, personal bankruptcy filings in New London County, where the casino was located, quadrupled, mostly for abusing plastic. Explained one busy bankruptcy attorney: “The casino has a credit card swipe machine every five feet.” When the machines would no longer dispense cash, gamblers were given to desperation. In March 1996, when thirty-eight-year-old Laura Grauer of Stamford, Connecticut, had gone through all her credit cards and all her cash, the married mother of a teenage daughter walked into the nearby Thames River and drowned herself.

WHO WAS this nouveau riche Indian tribe that was turning a sleepy part of New England upside down? The legacy that Richard Hayward now clung to, the mantle of Pequot history, was crucial to his multimillion-dollar endeavor. As the result of a long line of controversial Supreme Court decisions, only genuine Indian tribes could legally operate casinos in Connecticut. There had once been Indians called the Pequots. Of that, there could be no doubt. But were Hayward and his family really their descendants? Some suggested that they were closer to being “Casino-Americans,” opportunists who had manipulated American laws to create their own nation and then their own casino. It was this suspicion that nagged at the residents of Ledyard and Preston. Many of them had known Hayward and his family for many years. His father had been a Navy seaman; his paternal grandmother and great-grandmother had been active in the Daughters of the American Revolution. Hayward, his two brothers, and his six sisters had attended public schools both in Ledyard and in nearby Rhode Island, where his father was stationed. People had known them all their lives, and they had never identified themselves as “Indians” before. Why were they Indians now? And how, by 1998, had the Haywards become the most powerful family in the state, earning more than $1.5 million a year in salary, enjoying dinners with the president, negotiating to buy National Football League franchises, receiving honorary degrees from the most prestigious universities, and swallowing up farms, houses, historic inns, and landmarks that had been in private Yankee hands for three centuries?

The small reservation where the casino now stood had been around for as long as local residents could remember. But no one was exactly sure if the people who lived on it were truly related to the proud Pequots of four centuries ago. Suddenly, this question was at the forefront of everyone‘s conversations. Something had happened in Connecticut that changed the lives of those who lived here. As remarkable as these transformations were, the story behind them was even more incredible.








I

BEGINNINGS








1

THE PEQUOTS MEET THE ENGLISH

THE PEQUOT LEGACY around which Skip Hayward had built an empire had its origins directly linked to the discovery and settlement of America. The Pequots were among the first Indian tribes to be encountered by English and Dutch traders, and the very first to be exterminated.

Christopher Columbus accidentally stumbled onto the New World in 1492, and in an amazingly short time‘ by the early 1500s‘ European explorers were already combing the coastline of the Hudson River Valley and Long Island Sound. Although we tend to think of American Indians in terms of the Great Plains and the West, the East Coast was densely populated with indigenous residents when the pushy newcomers from Europe arrived. The Mohegans, the Narragansetts, the Wampanoags, the Nipmucs, the Niantics, the Shinnecocks, and the Pequots ruled from what is now Long Island all the way to Cape Cod. But all the contemporary literature of the time points to the fact that in the early 1500s, the Pequot Indians were seen by Dutch and British traders as “the most numerous, the most warlike, the fiercest and the bravest of all the aboriginal clans of Connecticut.” The translation of their name itself, Pequot, means “destroyers.”

Both the Pequots and the neighboring Mohegans occupied the coastline of southeastern Connecticut on the north side of Long Island Sound. They were a people who lived mostly along the seacoast, harvesting crabs and other edible sea creatures, as well as collecting beads and shells for use in wampum, the currency of the Indian tribes. Some historians believe they were two factions of the same tribe. Both tribes were said to be closely related to the Mohawks and other Algonquin tribes who lived along the banks of the Hudson River. In fact, the Pequots arrived at the Connecticut coast only a few decades before the Europeans. Before that, they lived alongside the Mohicans in the Hudson River Valley. For reasons that were never recorded or permanently passed down, they were either expelled from the Hudson Valley or voluntarily migrated down to the coastline, first traveling east from the Hudson River along what would become the southern border of Massachusetts. After crossing the Connecticut River, they turned south and settled along the coast of Long Island Sound at the sites of the present-day cities of Groton, Mystic, and Noank. This immediately put them at odds with their tribal neighbors, the Narragansetts and Niantics, who were related to each other and viewed the Pequots with suspicion and even hatred. There is little doubt among anthropologists that the Pequots clashed with these tribes during their eastward migration and that at least some clans of Niantics were killed in violent confrontations, while others joined the Narragansetts.

By the time of the European arrival in New England in the early sixteenth century, the Pequots found themselves in control of a large area of land along the coast of Connecticut, but at the same time they were completely surrounded by enemies. Still, as historian John W. De Forest described it in History of the Indians of Connecticut from the Earliest Known Period to 1850, his definitive history of the local tribes, written in 1852, “They maintained their hold on the conquered territory with a tenacity equal to the boldness with which they had seized it.” Pequot war parties created terror and frequent panic among the numerous Narragansetts to the east in what is now Rhode Island and swept smaller tribes to the west. Slowly but surely, during the late 1400s and early 1500s, the Pequots conquered and solidified their hold on southern New England with territory extending from the present border of Rhode Island all the way to New Haven. From their bases in present-day Groton, the Pequots set off in canoes to attack rival bands on Long Island as well as on Block Island. For roughly one hundred years, the Pequots‘ military successes were virtually unchecked, at least until they met a bolder and fiercer foe coming at them from the west.

At the beginning of the seventeenth century, the fierce Iroquois were driven out of Canada by the Adirondacks. Loose and on the warpath in the colonies, Iroquois warriors blazed wildly over eastern North America. De Forest writes that every Indian nation from the Mississippi to the Connecticut River, from Tennessee to Hudson‘s Bay, trembled at their mere mention.

The natives of what would become Connecticut were exposed every year to the ravages of the Iroquois. In New England, the Iroquois faction was known as the Mohawks. And up until the early 1600s, the Mohawks from the west and the Pequots from the east terrorized everyone who lived in between. But these two fierce peoples made a point of avoiding each other, and the Pequots advanced no farther west than where the Mohawks lived. Until 1614, they had only to worry about each other. But in that year, some six years before the Pilgrims landed at Plymouth Rock, a Dutch navigator named Adriaen Block maneuvered through Long Island Sound, and explored numerous rivers including the Connecticut River. In his little 44-foot sailboat called the Restless, Block sailed up the Connecticut River to the present site of Hartford. He was stopped by the presence of an Indian fort, and he turned around and sailed back to the Sound. Thus it was that Connecticut was officially “discovered.”

Within several years, Dutch traders were buying as many as 10,000 beaver skins a year from the Indians in Connecticut. In 1632, a representative of the West India Company, Hans Eencluys, began negotiations with the Pequots to built a fort and trading post on land within the tribe‘s hunting range. The land in question was distant from the main inhabited section of the Pequots‘ 500-square-mile range and so on June 18, 1633, Pequot chief (known as a “sachem”) Wopigwooit, entered into a treaty that gave a chunk of the river valley to the Dutch in exchange for cloth, household goods, and toys. But almost immediately, relations between the Pequots and the settlers fell apart. Pequot warriors attacked traders and the Dutch responded by having Wopigwooit executed. The new chief, Sassacus, vowed revenge against the Dutch for killing the tribal leader and began dealing with English settlers who were also interested in driving out the rival Dutch. An Englishman from Plymouth Colony named William Holmes established a trading post north of Hartford at the present site of Windsor. It did not take long for the English to run into the same types of problems the Dutch were having. In the summer of 1633, a “Captain John Stone” sailed up the Connecticut River and began trading with friendly local tribes. But a Pequot war party came upon his boat and killed a landing party that was searching for turkeys, then went aboard the boat and murdered Stone with a large rock.

This incident alarmed Sassacus as much as it did the English. Ever since the attack on the Dutch trading post, the Pequots had been losing ground in constant skirmishes over a wide front. The Niantics had pushed them off Block Island, the Narragansetts had grown stronger to their east, and other rival tribes, seeking closer ties to the Dutch for their own protection, were better armed and trained for battle then they had been before the arrival of the newcomers. Sassacus, who hated the Dutch, was not yet ready to provoke a battle with the English. In October 1634, he sent an ambassador to the English seeking an alliance against the Dutch. The English replied that they would welcome peace but they had to insist that the murderers of Stone and his men be turned over for punishment. The Pequots disputed the English understanding of the episode. They claimed that Stone had provoked the attack by “violent and alarming” conduct, and all but two of the attackers had since died from a smallpox epidemic that was then sweeping through the tribes. In order to achieve peace, the Pequots promised to turn over the remaining two members of the party to the English for trial. In addition, the English would have the protection of the Pequots as they made their way up the Connecticut River Valley. In return, the English promised not to aid the Dutch in attacking the Pequots. The treaty was signed at Massachusetts Bay Colony in November 1634.

The success of the Treaty of 1634 encouraged a steady stream of settlers from the Massachusetts Bay Colony to the Connecticut River Valley. In one settlement at Wethersfield, the colonists nearly perished in a fierce winter storm, only to be saved by the intervention of friendly Pequots, who took them into their wigwams.

By 1635, the Colony of Connecticut was truly established. Larger parties of women and children made the trek southward to join their husbands on the frontier. They were welcomed “joyfully,” as their own accounts put it, but in the spring of 1636 an incident occurred that broke the spirit of the treaty. An English sailor named John Oldham of Dorchester set sail with a crew of two young boys and two Narragansett Indians to trade with the Pequots. He was on his way home when his entire party was murdered and his possessions plundered. Not long afterward, a delegation of Narragansetts journeyed to Boston to express their grief at the killing of Oldham and to assure authorities that the two remaining assailants had been found and punished. Although the Pequots had not participated in the Oldham murder, the English were still angry because tribe members were reported to have harbored some of Oldham‘s attackers who had escaped onto Block Island. In the opinion of the English, the Pequots were coconspirators in the crime, which only served as a reminder that the tribe had never turned over the killers of Captain Stone as they had promised. As a show of force, the English instructed John Endicott to sail to Block Island and to “put every man to death.” From Block Island, Endicott was ordered to go “to the country of the Pequots” and to capture the murderers of Captain Stone.

As the fleet approached Block Island, only a single Indian could be seen walking along the shore. As one of Endicott‘s men, John Underhill, approached the shore, 60 warriors rose and unleashed a volley of arrows. Unable to fire from their craft, the landing party abandoned their boat in waist-deep water and, firing muskets, stormed the beach. Armed only with arrows, the Pequots fled into the bushes. Underhill set fire to an abandoned Pequot village and then killed 14 Pequots he found hiding in a swamp. Having accomplished what he could, he then sailed back across the sound to the mainland, landing at a fort at the coastal site of modern-day Saybrook, Connecticut. The local commander, Lion Gardiner, was horrified at Endicott‘s armament and complained that it would “raise a nest of wasps.” Despite his misgivings, Gardiner augmented Endicott‘s force with two small ships and an additional 20 soldiers. They sailed into the harbor at what is now New London and approached Pequot representatives. Endicott demanded that the Pequots turn over Stone‘s killer to him as well as pay 1,000 fathoms of wampum for their destruction of English property. If they could not pay a sum so large, Endicott said, they must part with 20 of their children to be held as hostages until the payment was made.

The Pequots argued that Stone had been killed in retaliation for the Dutch killing of one of their sachems. The Pequot ambassador explained that his people sometimes had trouble distinguishing between the English and the Dutch. “You know well enough the difference between the English and the Dutch,” Endicott replied angrily. “You have had sufficient relations with both and therefore seeing that you have slain the King of England‘s subjects, we demand an account for their blood.” Endicott prepared his men for battle. He lined up his soldiers on the east side of the river near the site of present-day New London and marched them to a hill where he would have a sweeping view of the countryside. Around them swirled some 300 Pequots, most of them unarmed. Frustrated, Endicott took a few young Indians as hostages, burned several wigwams, and set sail for Boston. Just as Lion Gardiner had predicted, the Endicott attack had the Pequots buzzing, and it was the Connecticut settlers who paid the price. Almost immediately after Endicott‘s departure, two sailors from one of the smaller ships from Gardiner‘s regiment at Saybrook were attacked by a band of Pequots while they were foraging a cornfield. If the Pequots had been determined to get revenge for the earlier conduct of the English and the Dutch, the actions of Endicott had strengthened their hostility. There was nothing as sacred in Pequot culture as the belief in swift reprisal for slain warriors.

The English would have to be destroyed. But to accomplish this, Sassacus concluded, he needed an alliance with his longtime foe, the Narragansetts. Sassacus thus sent two tribal leaders to the Narragansetts to make peace and to induce the tribe to “take up tomahawk” against the English.

Sassacus proposed a strategy of guerrilla warfare against the invaders, suggesting that the Pequot-Narragansett alliance not meet the English in open battle. Instead, he asked that the English be harassed secretly and unceasingly. Eventually, their lives would be made so difficult that they would “fly back across the sea” to their own country. If we are destroyed, he told the Narragansetts, “you will not be long safe from attack and overthrow.”

The Narragansetts listened to the appeals of Sassacus and then retreated to their own tribal council. The tribe was torn. Much of what Sassacus said about the English was true. But at the same time, they hated and feared the Pequots only a little less than the colonists did. This being the case, instead of dealing with Sassacus, they decided to form an alliance with the English colonists. The Narragansett chief traveled triumphantly to Boston to sign the new agreement. When word of the new alliance came to Pequot country, Sassacus began to prepare his warriors for battle, and skirmishes became common. At one town upriver, Pequots grabbed three women who were working in the fields. Two of them went along peacefully, but the third resisted and was killed with a hatchet. The Pequots then went into the town and murdered 2 more women, 6 men, and 20 cows.

Two days after the attack, the residents at Fort Saybrook saw the Pequot victors coming down the river in their canoes with the two captive girls, daughters of a man named Abraham Swain. Gardiner ordered that cannons be fired at their canoes, but none were hit and the Pequots slipped back to their homes at the base of the river.

On May 11, 1637, a committee of men from the towns of Hartford, Windsor, and Wethersfield met in Hartford to discuss what action to take. By now, 30 of their friends had been slain by Pequot arrows. It was resolved that an offensive war would have to be conducted and an army of 90 men was authorized‘ 42 from Hartford, 30 from Windsor, and 18 from Wethersfield. Commander John Mason was named commander-in-chief. And Mason quickly discovered a very useful ally.

For years, Sassacus had experienced troubles with a part-Mohegan, part-Pequot chieftain named Uncas, who on numerous occasions had challenged Sassacus. His plotting was found out and Uncas was exiled to live with the Narragansetts. Uncas and Sassacus were such bitter enemies that Uncas resolved to put himself at the disposal of the English against his blood rival. Joined by a number of Indians who lived along the river and badly wanted the old days of easy trading to come back, Uncas drafted 70 warriors to fight the Pequots.

With the news that the men of Connecticut were arming, Massachusetts supplied nearly 300 more soldiers. On May 20, 1637, Mason and Uncas took off after the Pequot villages. To prove his loyalty along the way, Uncas personally killed four Pequots and demonstrably tortured several others. Mason sailed to Rhode Island to join his new Narragansett allies to attack the Pequots from the rear through what would be the current towns of Mystic and Groton.

On Friday, May 29, Mason and his men arrived on the shores of southern Rhode Island and Narragansett territory. At sunset the following Tuesday, Mason landed and marched up to the residence of the Narragansett chief, Canonicus. He informed Canonicus that all he wanted was safe passage through Narragansett lands. Mason was given permission and an admonition. The Narragansetts had seen many white men before try to attack the Pequots without success. They were “great captains and skillful in war,” the Narragansetts warned.

Mason‘s men took this warning as an affront. It was clear that the Narragansetts, as well as the Pequots, did not view the English as great fighting men. The following morning, a sea army of 13 Englishmen and a few Indians set sail for the harbor nearest the camp at New London. At the same time, Mason amassed an army of 77 Englishmen and 60 of Uncas‘s troops and began to march westward along the path of modern-day U.S. 1.

As they marched, Narragansetts along the way joined the invasion army and induced members of another tribe, the Niantics, to come along as well. The ever-increasing army marched an additional three miles in the direction of Mystic before Mason stopped to interrogate some of the Indians in his party. He was told that the Pequots lived in two forts, one fairly close to present-day Groton, the other farther down the coast at New London. It was at the farther one that Sassacus resided.

At night, Mason encamped at a place called Porters‘ Rocks, from which he could hear the sounds of Pequot revelry. Mason‘s men were stone silent. On the morning of June 5, 1637, the English awoke silently before daybreak and murmured their prayers. Mason led them along a two-mile path but was frustrated that he couldn‘t see the fort that had seemed so close during the night. “Where is the fort?” Mason asked of Uncas.

“On the top of the hill,” Uncas replied.

Mason asked where his Indian warriors were.

“They are in the rear, very much afraid,” Uncas replied. “Tell them not to fly, ” said Mason. “But let them stand behind at what distance they please and see now whether the Englishmen will fight.”

Mason sent Underhill to the southern slope of the fort, while Mason prepared for a frontal assault. Nearly everyone inside the fort was asleep. Mason‘s men crept undetected until they were right on top of the fort when a dog barked and a Pequot sentry called out, “Englishmen, Englishmen!” Firing muskets as they went, Mason and his men burst into the village, many of the Pequots staring up in astonishment from their beddings. Hand-to-hand combat was fierce, and both Mason and his men were soon weak from exhaustion. To end it, Mason seized a torch and set fire to a wigwam. The village went up in an instant and screams of those burned alive seared the spring night. Forty of the bravest Pequot warriors ran outside into the morning, but almost all were struck down by English swords or the arrows of the Narragansetts.

According to Mason‘s account, the fire blazed for the better part of an hour, killing 400 Pequots. Mason calculated that seven were taken prisoner and seven were judged to have escaped. The brutality of burning people alive did not faze the English. One commander wrote after the slaughter: “Sometimes the scripture declareth women and children must perish with their parents. Sometimes the case alters but we will not dispute it now. We had sufficient light from the word of God for our proceedings.”

But the battle was not over. Scouts reported a cadre of some 300 Pequot warriors marching toward them from the other fort. But armed only with arrows, they were no match for 14 soldiers who sent them into retreat with musket fire. Mason then directed his own men to retreat and regroup. As they moved back, the Pequots gazed upon the destruction of their village. They were so wrought with anger and grief over what they saw that many stood and began pulling out their hair and crying. Crazed with rage, more Pequots rushed down the hill of their town only to be mowed down by more musket fire. Those who made it back to the main fort quickly exacted their revenge on the family of Uncas, immediately killing anyone whose blood could be linked to the traitor‘s. Sassacus called a council at his remaining fort to discuss his three options: to leave southeastern Connecticut and head northwest; to attack the English; or to wage war on the traitorous Narragansetts.

The decision was made to torch their town and divide up into smaller parties to try to escape. The main body of several hundred survivors moved westward under the command of Sassacus. Finding three colonists working in a field along his retreat route, Sassacus ordered their bodies slit open from back to breast and hung up on trees by the bank to show the English that he was unbroken and unbowed. During their retreat, the Pequots foraged for food in the forest and used their great skill at clamming to survive. One group finally halted their march at the present site of Fairfield, a good portion of the way to their ancestral homelands along the Hudson River. The English were now determined to eradicate the remnants of the Pequots while they were split and weakened. The first band, that had camped near a swamp, were captured without resistance, and 40 of them were murdered by the English in cold blood. Two lesser chiefs were spared upon the promise that they would lead the English to the main group of fleeing Pequots under Sassacus.

Some 80 of the women were handed over to the Narragansetts to become part of their tribe. The remainder were bound up and sent to the Massachusetts Bay Colony to be sold as slaves, destined for the cane fields of the Caribbean.

With Uncas as his guide, Mason tracked the Pequots, following their diggings for clams, roots, and other shellfish. In addition, the party occasionally came upon strays and stragglers who were forced under torture to provide information on the direction Sassacus had taken. Meanwhile, Mason‘s fleet had sailed on to New Haven. Again, a Pequot was captured and promised his life if he would simply point the English in the direction of Sassacus. He departed, obtained the exact location and number of Pequots in the main band, then stole away and reported back to the English. The stage was set for the end of the reign of Sassacus. Mason marched toward Fairfield.

Sassacus‘s men, whose intelligence was almost as accurate as that of Mason‘s, had set up camp around an area known as Fairfield Swamp. At least 100 Pequot warriors had taken defensive positions around the low-lying quicksand, and when a battalion of Mason‘s men came, the Pequots sprang forward and pushed back the English, inflicting casualties. The English surrounded the area and poured musket balls indiscriminately toward the campfires. Uneasy at the prospect of killing even more women and children, it was decided to enlist the services of an interpreter, to see if some sort of surrender could be arranged. The translator ventured into the Indian lines and announced that all Pequots who had not been guilty of killing Englishmen would be freed. The Pequots agreed and for a long time, women, children, and elderly Pequots passed silently out of the swamp and safely through the English lines. After 200 had come out, the English were satisfied that only warriors remained inside the perimeter. Throughout the night, the two opposing forces fought in close quarters. Nine Pequots fell to English musketry. Indian arrows proved much less effective. Shortly before dawn, a heavy seaside fog enveloped the swamp. The Pequots took this as their best chance to escape and rushed what they hoped was a weak point in the British barricade. A vicious last battle began and from 50 to 60 Pequots succeeded in getting outside the English lines and fled into the woods. Mason captured the rest, but Sassacus was not among them.

Sassacus had already slipped out of Fairfield Swamp, and accompanied by a companion named Mononotto, and with up to 40 of his most elite fighting men, he had moved even farther west into Mohawk territory. But the tribe from which his people had split many years before proved no more loyal to Indian blood than had Uncas or the Narragansetts. Knowing that the head of Sassacus had value in their dealings with the English, the Mohawks killed every Pequot but Mononotto, who escaped. The scalp of Sassacus and five of his bravest men were ignominiously sent to Fort Saybrook as proof that Sassacus and the Pequots were finally done for.

Ultimately, according to Mason, some 700 additional Pequots were killed or captured in various groups. Those that had escaped were marked men. Hardly a week passed at Saybrook that Narragansetts or Mohegans didn‘t appear with yet another horrible trophy. It brought joy to colonial leaders, who proclaimed gratefulness “that on this day we have sent 600 heathen to heaven.”

According to the history compiled by De Forest, the remaining Pequots tired of life on the run. An emissary was sent to Hartford to propose the total and unconditional surrender of the remaining members of the tribe, if their lives would be spared. An investigation was ordered by the colonial government into exactly how many Indians of Pequot blood remained in New England and also on Long Island. On October 1, 1638, in a document styled the “Treaty of Hartford,” the colonial government of Connecticut, along with its Indian allies, passed final judgment on the Pequots. Under the terms of the treaty, the remaining living Pequots were to be divided among the Narragansetts and the Mohegans. The Pequots were never again to live in their homeland and could never again use the name Pequot. All Pequot lands east of the Connecticut River would revert to the English colony of Connecticut.

As De Forest wrote, “Such was the peace that closed the famous Pequot War; and thus, for all time, was the national existence of that brave though savage people extinguished.”

THAT THE PEQUOTS were “extinguished” has significant references in history. The French traveler and historian Alexis de Tocqueville recorded their extermination for the world after traveling to New England in 1833. “All the Indian tribes who once inhabited the territory of New England‘ the Narragansetts, the Mohicans, the Pequots‘ now live only in men‘s memories,” he wrote in Democracy in America after returning home. Even Herman Melville made note of their disappearance in Moby-Dick, written in 1851. It was no accident that Melville named Captain Ahab‘s doomed ship the Pequod (using a variation of the tribe‘s correct spelling), explaining: “Pequod, you will no doubt remember, was the name of a celebrated tribe of Massachusetts Indians, now extinct as the ancient Medes.”

If Melville, de Tocqueville, De Forest, and others are correct, how could it be that something like 600 Pequots are now living in $300,000 four-bedroom, three-car-garage wigwams that encircle the tribe‘s modern-day sacred hearth‘ the billion-dollar-a-year Foxwoods Resort and Casino. If nothing else, this seems like an egregious violation of the Treaty of Hartford, the three-party agreement that made it unlawful for the Pequots to even exist. And according to the treaty, now locked in a vault at the Massachusetts Historical Society, it is unlawful for anyone to use the name “Pequot.” Apparently, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office isn‘t enforcing all the old colonial laws.

Could such illustrious observers as Melville, the count de Tocqueville, and De Forest have been mistaken? Though de Tocqueville was a tourist, he is still regarded some 150 years after his death as one of the most astute observers of early America. And if anybody had known what was happening in those Connecticut woods, it would have been Melville or De Forest, who were so personally familiar with the region. How could they have been so far off ? If we want to believe Melville, then who are these people who call themselves the Pequots today? If the experts are correct, they must be a band of opportunists who have stolen the mantle of Pequot history to take advantage of current laws and Supreme Court rulings that make it possible for Native American Indian tribes to own and operate casinos when it would otherwise be unlawful for them to do so. In short, Foxwoods could be the grandest, richest, and most successful scam of all time.

Aside from the issues of sovereignty, which enable them to operate virtually tax-free, immune from personal injury suits and state labor laws, the Pequots‘ “Indianness” itself is one of the keys to the casino‘s enormous success. Thousands of Foxwoods customers admit to alleviating their guilt by choosing to gamble in an Indian casino. Believing that their slot quarters and $5 craps and blackjack chips are helping to rectify four hundred years of American injustice makes it easier to justify the otherwise silly act of taking all the money they have worked hard for during the week and giving it away with one spin of the roulette wheel. Full of rationalizations and self-justifications, Indian-sponsored gambling has one built-in advantage that Donald Trump‘s casinos in Atlantic City could never match: it is freer from guilt. Every day, thousands talk themselves into the idea that they aren‘t losing money but making a contribution to charity. The IRS, unfortunately, does not allow gambling losses to be placed on the charitable-deduction side of Form 1040.

When it came to the status of the Pequot tribe, the historians were part right and part wrong. They were right that the tribe, as a Native American community with its own language, customs, and practices, was gone. They were wrong, however, that the Pequot people themselves had all been extinguished or had abandoned their identity.

Not much time had passed after the signing of the Treaty of Hartford in 1637 when it became apparent at the headquarters of the Massachusetts Bay Colony that the conquered Pequots were not cooperating with its provisions. The surviving remnants of the Pequot War were supposed to have been divided up between the Narragansetts and the Mohegans. But both tribes were bitter historical enemies of the Pequots and the aid that each of them had given to the English forces of Captain Mason was hardly something that could be easily overlooked or forgiven.

In late 1638, it was brought to the attention of Captain Mason that a village of Pequots had escaped from Mohegan bondage and reestablished themselves on the banks of the Pawcatuck River near the border of modern-day Connecticut and Rhode Island. English officials were quick to rule that this constituted a severe breach of the Treaty of Hartford. The settlement, they decreed, must be closed. Captain Mason was dispatched to handle the matter with a force of 40 soldiers. He sailed to the mouth of the Pawcatuck, where he became engaged in a battle with a tribe of Niantics. As Mason himself remembered the incident, the Niantic chief defended the Pequots, telling Mason, “the Pequots who live here are good men and we will certainly fight for them and protect them.” The English commanders, rather than become involved in a wider campaign than they had originally anticipated, withdrew. The Connecticut colonial government was wary of doing anything that might lead to a restoration of Pequot power but did come to perceive that small Pequot pockets, like the one on the Pawcatuck, were going to persist in Connecticut. That perception was implicit in the very first law ever passed by the colonial General Assembly in 1638. That statute banned the trading of weapons to the Pequots. At the same time, English soldiers continued to hunt down individual Pequots suspected of committing “war crimes” against settlers, and bounties were posted for certain nefarious characters who had participated in pre-1638 atrocities.
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